I. INTRODUCTION 

On September 13, 2011, licensed tattoo artist Bonnie Gillson 

("Gillson"), who was operating within a licensed tattoo shop named Deep 

Roots Alderwood, LLC ("Deep Roots"), applied a tattoo to Anna Chester. 

CP 67 & 503. Gillson had the choice of either sterile or non-sterile ink for 

the tattoo. CP 353, 359, 368, 385. However, she used non-sterile ink that 

was contaminated with bacteria. CP 210, 393-397. 

Within a few weeks, Gillson infected about 21 other people with 

non-sterile ink from the same bottle of ink that she injected into Chester. 

CP 193-196. Gillson agrees that the ink she injected into Chester and her 

other clients was non-sterile and contaminated with harmful bacteria. CP 

210. The bacteria that Gillson injected caused a disease process that 

destroyed Chester's kidney function over the course of three to four months, 

resulting in End Stage Renal Disease. See CP 393-397, 253-255. Ms. 

Chester was then 21 years old. CP 253-255. Chester's future now is either 

dialysis for life or a kidney replacement with associated ongoing medical 

care and medications. CP 253-255. 

The contaminated ink was a black ink named "One" that Gillson had 

acquired from Kingpin Tattoo Supply, Inc. ("Kingpin"). CP 213, 67 & 503. 
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Chester filed suit against Gillson and Deep Roots, alleging claims of 

negligence and negligence per se. 1 The negligence per se claims were based 

upon violation of statutes and regulations governing tattoo artists and shops. 

See RCW 5.40.050(3) (providing that violation of any statute or regulation 

relating to "sterilization of needles and instruments used by persons engaged 

in the practice of . . . tattooing, or other precaution against the spread of 

disease, as required under RCW 70.54.350" constitutes negligence per se ); 

RCW 70.54.330(3)-(4) (requiring licensed "tattoo artists" engaged in 

"tattooing" to use "nontoxic dyes or pigments" as a matter of definition); 

RCW 70.54.350 (requiring tattoo artists to comply with health and safety 

regulations adopted by the department of health); WAC 246-145-050(1) 

(requiring tattoo artists to "[u]se sterile instruments and aseptic techniques at 

all times during a procedure"); WAC 308-22-020 (requiring tattoo shops to 

comply with the same requirements as tattoo artists). 

The superior court dismissed Chester's claims against Gillson and 

Deep Roots on summary judgment. CP 5-14. In connection with these 

proceedings, the superior court also struck certain portions and limited 

consideration of other portions of a declaration of Warren Dinges, M.D., 

1 Chester also alleged claims against Defendants Deep Roots Tattoo & Body 
Modification, Inc. and Katrina and Ryan Wickersham, which were dismissed and are not 
subject to appeal. Additionally, Chester has alleged product liability claims against 
Kingpin and Papillon Studio Supply and MFG, Inc., which are the unadjudicated portion 
of the case that remains with the superior court. 
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Ph.D. that Chester had submitted in opposition to the summary judgment 

motions. CP 15-23. Dr. Dinges is an infectious disease specialist who 

treated Chester. CP 393-397, 366-370. In his opinion, Gillson's use of non

sterile ink was contrary to well-known medical concepts of aseptic technique 

and use of sterile instruments. CP 366-3 70; see infra p. 9-12. 

Chester now appeals the orders of dismissal entered in favor of 

Gillson and Deep Roots, along with the order striking portions and limiting 

consideration of other portions of Dr. Dinges' s testimony. CP 1-3. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The superior court erred by granting Bonnie Gillson's 

Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 10-14. 

2. The superior court erred by granting Deep Roots 

Alderwood, LLC's Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 5-9. 

3. The superior court erred by granting in part Gillson and 

Deep Roots Alderwood, LLC' s Motion to Strike the Second Declaration 

of Warren Dinges, M.D., Ph.D. CP 15-23. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. When a tattoo can be applied using sterile ink, is it 

negligent for a tattoo artist to use non-sterile ink? 
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2. Does a tattoo artist's use of non-sterile ink contaminated 

with disease-causing bacteria constitute negligence per se under one or 

more of the following statutes and regulations: 

a. WAC 246-145-050(1), which mandates the "[u]se [of] 

sterile instruments and aseptic techniques at all times 

during a procedure"; 

b. The requirement to use "nontoxic dyes or pigments," which 

is incorporated into the definition of ''tattooing" permitted by 

licensed "tattoo artists" under RCW 70.54.330(4)? 

3. Does a tattoo shop have a nondelegable duty under WAC 

308-22-020, to ensure compliance with RCW 246-145-050(1), regarding the 

"[u]se [of] sterile instruments and aseptic techniques at all times during a 

procedure," subjecting the shop to liability to the same extent as a tattoo 

artist? 

4. Did the supenor court improperly strike and limit 

consideration of the declaration of Dr. Dinges on summary judgment? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Grounds advanced by Bonnie Gillson and Deep Roots 
Alderwood, LLC for summary judgment of dismissal of Anna 
Chester's claims against them. 

Bonnie Gillson moved for summary judgment of dismissal with 

the arguments that (1) "there is no evidence to establish that Gillson knew 
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or should have known that the ink she purchased from Kingpin was 

contaminated," CP 433. and (2) "Plaintiff also has failed to establish that 

Gillson, through any unsafe or unsterile acts or practices, tattooed 

plaintiff." CP 433. 

Deep Roots Alderwood, LLC moved for summary judgment of 

dismissal with the arguments that: (1) "Neither Gillson nor the moving 

parties had any reason to know the ink was contaminated"; (2) "Neither 

Gillson nor the moving parties had any duty to investigate the ink"; and 

(3) "There is no evidence of unsafe practices at Deep Roots Alderwood, or 

that its or Gillson's practices caused the ink to become unsafe." CP 482-

484. 

B. Facts relied upon by Chester in opposition to Gillson's and 
Deep Roots Alderwood, LLC's Motions for Summary 
Judgment. 

1. Gillson injected Chester with tattoo ink that was non-sterile 

and contaminated with disease-causing bacteria that produced an 

infection. Both Gillson and Deep Roots Alderwood, LLC assumed this to 

be true for purposes of their summary judgment motions. CP 484, 433. 

Gillson's assessment of everything she knows is that the One ink she 

inserted into Chester was non-sterile. CP 210. 

2. Sterile tattoo ink was available to Gillson at the time of her 

purchase of the non-sterile ink, and when she tattooed Chester. Chester 
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hired an information technologies professional named Tim Raetzloff to 

use The Wayback Machine, found at https://archive.org., "to find and view 

archived webpages published on a website that no longer appear on the 

current version of the website." CP 256-258. Chester asked Mr. Raetzloff 

to view and print archived pages of the following websites: 

a. http://kingpintattoosupply.com/intenze.aspx; 

b. http://www.intenzetattooink.com/; 

c. http://www.intenzeproducts.com/about.php; and 

d. http://www.intenzeproducts.com/tech. php. 

Id. In May 2011, at the time that Gillson chose to buy non-sterile ink, 

Intenze ink was available which, according to a May 2011 statement on its 

website, is "formulated and sterilized so that the tattoo artist and client 

both receive the most positive tattoo possible." CP 359.2 In April 2011, 

Intenze was claiming that its ink was "tested and sterilized." CP 353.3 

2 The dates of the webpages are indicated in the top-right portion of the page. See CP 
256-258. 
3 In her reply brief, Gillson stated in a footnote: " ... plaintiffs own documentation 
shows that this [lntenze] brand tattoo ink had the most colonies of bacterial growth", 
referencing an article appended to Dr. Warren Dinges's Second Declaration from the 
Journal of the European Academy of Dermatology and Venerology." CP 175. However, 
the authors of that study purchased the Intenze ink in February 2010, 15 months prior to 
Gillson's purchase of the One ink. CP 376-383. The presence of the bacteria in the 
February 2010 Intenze, had Gillson known of it, would not permit her to then 
intentionally disregard as meaningless all manufacturer claims of sterility. Gillson also 
provided a citation to a 6/6/2014 Chief Health Officer Advisory Note of New South 
Wales, Australia, inclusive of a reference to an EU recall of a batch of Intenze ink. CP 
165-167. However, the NSW Note provides that the EU recall of this particular batch 
was on the basis that it contained chemicals deemed hazardous, not due to the presence of 
bacteria. 
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Additionally, Anna Chester's treating infectious disease doctor, 

Warren Dinges, M.D., Ph.D. testified that the process of gamma 

irradiation would have been effective in destroying all microbial life 

within the One ink used in Chester's tattoo, and that gamma irradiation 

was well-established for years prior to 2011. CP 368. Dr. Dinges attached 

a Certificate of Processing by gamma irradiation for tattoo ink made by 

Intenze from December 2009. CP 385. 

3. Gillson testified in a related case, that also involved 

allegations by a client of Gillson's of an infection from One ink, that she 

did nothing to inquire or to form a well-founded belief as to One ink's 

sterility or lack of bacterial contamination. 

Q (By Mr. Baisch) What makes you believe that Kingpin wasn't 
the producer of One tattoo ink? 

A It is my understanding that Kingpin is just a distributor and 
doesn't actually produce the ink. I could be wrong. 

Q Do you know anything about the company that made the One 
tattoo ink? 

A No. 

Q Aside from having an MSDS sheet showing toxicity for the 
One tattoo ink, what else did you know about the One tattoo ink? 

A As I said, I only knew that it came highly recommended and 
that it came from a company I believed to be safe. 

Q From a distributor that you believed to be safe? 
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A Yes. 

Q You knew nothing about the production? 

A Yes. 

Q You knew nothing about the company that you thought 
actually made the tattoo ink? 

A I don't know how to answer that. I mean, I guess no. I don't 
know where they're located. I didn't know. Aside from believing 
that Kingpin works with safe products and having been 
comfortable with that, then no, I did not know more than that about 
the One ink. 

Q And not to beat a dead horse, but you didn't know anything 
about the production of the One ink? 

A No. 

CP 233. 

4. Nor did Gillson have information about the One ink that 

could allow her to conclude that the One ink was sterile. 

Q And do you agree that the ink from Kingpin, the One Ink, did 
not come to you with a label that said sterile on it? 

A Correct. 

Q And do you agree that there was nothing in the -- in your 
knowledge about Kingpin Ink that would have allowed you to 
know that that ink was sterile? 

A Yes. I suppose that's true. 

Q That there was no way that you could know that it was sterile, 
right? 
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A Right. 

CP 213. 

5. The Wickershams, as owners and operators of Deep Roots 

Alderwood, LLC, made little or no effort to inform themselves about the 

ink used by their tattoo practitioners. 

Ryan Wickersham testified: 

A . . . I -- I'm not a tattoo artist. I don't know how to tattoo 
myself, so I would not feel comfortable giving them technical 
guidelines on how to produce their artwork. 

CP 222. Similarly, Katrina Wickersham has no qualifications to perform 

tattoos or evaluate the work of a licensed tattooist. CP 237. 

C. Summary of the superior court decision striking a portion of 
Dr. Dinges's Second Declaration as legal opinions, and 
considering a separate portion of his Second Declaration only 
as medical opinion. 

Chester submitted two declarations of her treating infectious 

disease physician, Dr. Warren Dinges, in opposition to Gillson's and Deep 

Roots's Motions for Summary Judgment. CP 366-392, 393-97. Dr. 

Dinges's curriculum vitae is at CP 372-374. 

Dr. Dinges provided the following testimony m his Second 

Declaration: 

One of several requirements contained in the Washington 
Administrative Code regulations that I have reviewed and attached 
as Exhibit 4 to this declaration is that tattoo artists "Use sterile 
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instruments and aseptic techniques at all times during a 
procedure." 

Aseptic technique is a concept well known to the medical 
community and is a goal in every setting where a patient is to have 
an expectantly sterile site exposed, such as an injection with 
something. My practice includes the administration of many 
inoculations and medications delivered intramuscularly, 
subcutaneously, and intradermally. When I am about to inject a 
patient I am prepared to "use sterile instruments and aseptic 
technique at all times during a procedure." What that means for me 
in part is that the substance that I intend to inject comes to my 
office in a sealed vial with a sterile stopper on it. The liquid is 
withdrawn by using a sterile syringe to pierce the stopper on the 
vial. Sometimes the vial contains a single-dose volume and 
sometimes a multi-dose volume. If multiple, each dose is 
withdrawn from the vial with a single use sterile syringe. Proper 
garb is worn and the patient's skin properly sterilized. If a patient 
of mine were to become infected through the process of my 
administering the injection, that would be more probably than not 
proof that, despite my best efforts, the technique I used was not in 
fact aseptic and/or the instruments were not sterile at all times 
during the procedure. 

Regardless of the credentials of the person performing the 
injection, the requirement to "use sterile instruments ... at all times 
during a procedure" seems unambiguous to me. The only meaning 
that I can attach to that rule is that, if a tattoo artist inserts into a 
customer, by way of an instrument, understood to be a needle used 
to penetrate the surface of the skin, ink that is contaminated with 
bacteria, then clearly "sterile instruments" were not used at all 
times during the procedure because the instrument, meaning the 
instrument used to penetrate the customer's skin, was contaminated 
with bacteria. 4 

Ms. Chester's attorneys have told me that the tattoo artist testified 
that in her understanding the regulation words "sterile" and 
"aseptic technique" must not require the use of sterile ink because 
it is a requirement that could never be met. I understand the artist 

4 The Superior Court struck this underlined paragraph of Dr. Dinges's Second 
Declaration as "legal opinions." CP 15-23; see infra p. 25-29. 
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to be saying that, assuming the ink was sterile as received from the 
manufacturer, as soon as ink is exposed to air (as in opening the 
cap on the bottle of ink and/or pouring some into a sterile single
use container), then the ink is no longer sterile because airborne 
bacteria get into the ink. The same contention could be made with 
regard to a tattooing needle that comes out of the autoclave. 
However, within the medical field, exposure to air by itself is 
specifically not considered to have rendered a sterile substance or 
instrument unsterile. This is not to say that prolonged exposure to 
air for days might not allow a small number of microorganisms to 
get into the exposed liquid, but the odds of enough airborne 
bacteria getting into the liquid that way are known to be 
infinitesimal compared to the odds that bacteria, through physical 
contact (needle into ink, then both ink and needle into the skin), 
will be acquired in sufficient numbers to produce an infection. 

In my opinion the absolute minimum that is required for a tattoo 
artist (or any person intending to inject a substance into a person) 
to be able to claim the use of sterile instruments and aseptic 
technique at all times during the procedure is that the artist only 
use ink that is in fact sterile. In this case, the artist did not use ink 
that was in fact sterile because the black ink in Ms. Chester's tattoo 
was contaminated with bacteria. To ensure sterile instruments and 
aseptic technique throughout the procedure, the procedure has to 
start with sterile tattoo ink. 5 

CP 369-370. Deep Roots filed a Motion to Strike the entirety of Dr. 

Dinges's Second Declaration. Deep Roots argued: (1) "Dr. Dinges has no 

experience, education, knowledge, or training as to tattooing standards and 

procedures, and he is not a licensed tattoo artist." (2) "Dr. Dinges also 

makes impermissible legal conclusions regarding the application of 

Washington's body art law as it applies to tattoo artists." CP 180. The 

5 The Superior Court considered this underlined paragraph "only as medical opinion." 
CP 15-23; see irifra p. 29-30. 
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superior court granted, in part, the Motion to Strike. CP 15-23; see also 

infra p. 24-30. 

Chester replied that Dr. Dinges was qualified to opine regarding 

the elements of the standard of care for tattoo artists because those 

standards originated from within the medical field. Chester argued that 

the Legislature's directive in RCW 70.54.340 that the DOH consider the 

CDC's infection control standards evidenced a legislative intent that the 

DOH apply medical standards for sterility and aseptic technique to 

tattooists. CP 88-99. 

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Under Young v. Key Pharm., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 

(1989), Gillson and Deep Roots, as the moving parties, have the burden of 

establishing that there are no genuine issues of material fact and that they 

are entitled to judgment as a matter of law. The facts should be viewed in 

the light most favorable to Chester, as the non-moving party, and all 

reasonable inferences from the facts should be drawn in her favor. Id. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. Overview of statutes and regulations applicable to tattoo artists 
and tattoo shops. 

The Legislature first addressed "tattooing" in 2001. 

(4) "Tattooing" means the indelible mark, figure, or decorative 
design introduced by insertion of nontoxic dyes or pigments into or 
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under the subcutaneous portion of the skin upon the body of a live 
human being for cosmetic or figurative purposes. 

RCW 70.54.330(4) (emphasis added). "[U]nless the context clearly 

appears otherwise," the definition that artists use only nontoxic ink "shall 

apply throughout" three other sections. Id. Those three sections are: RCW 

70.54.320 (declaring tattooing to be an invasive procedure that warrants 

regulation), 70.54.340 (the directive to the DOH to mandate precautions 

against the spread of disease by tattooists), and 70.54.350(1) (providing that 

every tattoo practitioner "shall comply" with DOH rules adopted under 

RCW 70.54.340). RCW 70.54.340 provides: 

The secretary of health shall adopt by rule requirements, in 
accordance with nationally recognized professional standards, for 
precautions against the spread of disease, including the sterilization 
of needles and other instruments, including sharps and jewelry, 
employed by electrologists, persons engaged in the practice of 
body art, body piercing, and tattoo artists. The secretary shall 
consider the standard precautions for infection control, as 
recommended by the United States centers for disease control, and 
guidelines for infection control, as recommended by national 
industry standards in the adoption of these sterilization 
requirements. 

Under RCW 70.54.340, the Department of Health adopted the 

following requirements: 

"The following universal precautions must be used by persons 
licensed to practice ... tattooing: 

( 1) Use sterile instruments and aseptic techniques at all times 
during a procedure." 
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WAC 246-145-050( 1 ). The term "aseptic technique" means: 

"[A] procedure that prevents contamination of any object or 
person." 

WAC 246-145-010(2). The term "sterile" is undefined within the 

definitions section of 246-145. The term "sterilization" is defined as: 

"(23) "Sterilization" means a process that destroys all forms of 
microbial life, including highly resistant bacterial spores." 

WAC 246-145-010(23). 

B. The superior court erred in granting Gillson's summary 
judgment motion because the use of non-sterile tattoo ink is 
negligent per se. 

Negligence per se means negligent as a matter of law. See, e.g., 

Kness v. Truck Trailer Equip. Co., 81 Wn.2d 251, 255, 501 P.2d 285, 288 

(1972). In most cases, violations of statutes and regulations merely 

constitute evidence of negligence, and do not establish negligence as a 

matter of law. RCW 5.40.050. However, violations of certain statutes and 

regulations constitute negligence per se. RCW 5.40.050(1)-(4). In this 

way, the doctrine of negligence per se essentially substitutes a legislatively 

created standard of care for the common law standard of reasonableness. 

See 16 Wash. Prac., Tort Law & Practice§ 2:42 (41h ed.). 

Violations of statutes and regulations governing tattoo artists and 

shops constitute negligence per se. RCW 5.40.050(3) provides in 

pertinent part:

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