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

V. ARGUMENT 

A. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed Chester's Claims 
of Negligence Per Se. 

At the trial court level, Chester's primary argument was that 

Gillson's use of contaminated ink constituted negligence per se under 

RCW 5.40.050. In making that argument, Chester urged the court to adopt 

regulations for tattoo artists that do not exist. The trial court properly 

declined the invitation to improperly legislate. 

C'hester· s arguments to the trial court, and now to this Court, 

continue to focus on the lega'J fiction that a tattoo artist like Gillson should 

be held negligent per se every time anyone has an adverse outcome from a 
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tattooing procedure, regardless of how carefully the tattoo artist acted. To 

support this sweeping conclusion, Chester urges that Gillson be held 

strictly liable here for allegedly violating an unwritten requirement to use 

"sterile" ink, absent any evidence that she knew or should have known 

that the FDA-approved tattoo ink that she had purchased from a reputable 

manufacture was contaminated. The trial court rejected Chester's 

arguments, refusing to hold Gilson negligent per se for violation of 

unwritten and unlegislated regulations. The ~ourt agreed with Gillson that 

there was no evidence that she failed to comply with existing tattooing 

regulations or that she otherwise breached any duty to Chester. This Court 

should affirm that decision. 

1. Gillson Complied With All Applicable Tattooing 
Regulations; There Is No Evidence to Support a Claim 
That She Was Negligent Per Se Pursuant to 
RCW 5.40.050(3). 

While Chester correctly points out that RCW 5.40.050 10 provides 

that violation of certain tattooing regulations can qualify as negliget1ce per 

111 RCW 5.40.050 reads in full as follows: "A breach of a duty imposed 
by statute. ordinance, or administrative rule shall not be considered negligence 
per Sl\ but may be considered by the trier of fact as evidence of neg I igence; 
however. any breach of duty as provided by statute, ordinance, or administrative 
rule relating to: (I) Electrical fire safety, (2) the use of smoke alarms, 
(J) sterilization of needles and instruments used by persons engaged in the 
practice of body art, body piercing, tattooing, or electro logy, or other precaution 
against the spread of disease. as required under RCW 70.54.350, or (4) driving 
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se, Gillson's actions here do not fall under the purview ofRCW 5.40.050. 

As to tattooists, the statute provides that "any breach of a duty as provided 

by statute. ordinance, or administrative rule relating to ... (3) sterilization 

of needles and instruments used by persons engaged in the practice of ... 

. tattooing ... as required under RCW 70.54.350 ... shall be considered 

negligence per se." RCW 5.40.050(3). 

Here, there is no evidence that Chester has proffered that Gillson in 

any way failed to appropriately sterilize the needle or any other instrument 

she used in applying ink (that Chester asserts came contaminated) to 

Chester. Chester does· not even allege such violations. RCW 5.40.050, by 

' . 
the plain meaning of its terms, applies only to Gillson's act in sterilizing 

the needle and her other instruments prior to use. Applying the ink to the 

needle is not part of this sterilization process. This step necessarily occurs 

after sterilization is complete. Chester concedes that the needle itself was 

sterilized~ in fact, her entire argument hinges on the assumption that the 

needle was sterilized For example, Chester relies on a statement from 

Dr. Cogen that "once the needle contacted ink that was not sterile the 

needle became contaminated." CP 417. 

vvhile under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug, shall be considered 
negligence per se." 
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The evidence is that Chester complied with all applicable rules 

regarding sterilization of needles and instruments. It is uncontroverted 

that in tattooing Chester, Gillson followed her standardized process, which 

included the following steps and precautions: 

• Using presterilized, individually packaged and dated tattoo 

needles. CP 206, 212. 

• She also sterilized her other tattoo instruments (e.g., metal 

tattoo tubes) using a four-part sterilization process that 

includes a hand scrub, an enzymatic soak, an ultra-sonic, 

another hand scrub, and then an autoclave process. 

CP 206,211. 

• She also disinfected surfaces and the client's skin using 

appropriate substances, donned and changed gloves 

multiple times, used barriers such as dental bibs and 

draping sheets, among other steps to prepare for tattooing. 

CP 209-12. 

Chester's argument that once the needle made contact with 

contaminated ink the needle was no longer sterile does not detract from 

the reality that Gillson did what was statutorily required of her: She used 

a needle that was sterile. The sterilization process, therefore, was 

complete at the time she used the needle to begin applying the allegedly 
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contaminated ink. Accordingly, RCW 5.40.050(3) simply does not apply 

to Gillson's acts based on the undisputed facts in this case. 

a) There Is No Statutory Requirement or 
Other Rule That Mandates Use of "Sterile" Ink. 

It is evident that Chester cannot show that Gillson breached any 

duty as to "sterilization of needles or instruments" as required to invoke 

negligence per se under RCW 50.40.050. Perhaps recognizing the 

weakness in her argument, which was essentially that a tattoo artist should 

be held negligent per se any time there is an adverse tattooing outcome 

because there must have been some breach in a duty to sterilize, Chester 

now advances a more narrow argument: Gillson's use of"non-sterile 

tattoo ink is negligent per se." Appellant's Brief("AB") 14. This 

argument also fails. 

While Chester now contends that Washington law provides that all 

tattoo inks must be sterile, she fails to cite any statute, regulation or 

official guideline that contains such a requirement. Indeed, that is because 

there is no such requirement. 

Simply put there is no statutory requirement that mandates the use 

of'"stcrile"' tattoo ink. Chester is attempting to write in law that does not 

exist. A requirement to use "sterile" ink is notably absent in the numerous 

regulations promulgated to police the tattooing industry. Similarly. there 
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is no requirement that a tattooist sterilize the ink purchased from a 

reputable manufacturer and that presumably, was sterile in the sealed 

container it was delivered in. For example, WAC 246-145-050 contains 

twenly:lour precautions that persons licensed to practice body art, body 

piercing, and tattooing, must follow. Nowhere in this list is a requirement 

that the ink a tattoo artist uses must be sterile or that the tattooist sterilize 

it (although Gillson clearly believed that One ink was sterile and safe for 

its intended use). CP 217. In contrast, all jewelry is required to be 

obtained in presterilized packaging from the manufacturer or be sterilized 

on-site prior to the procedure. WAC 246-145-050(20). 

Under Washington law, there are only two relevant provisions that 

discuss tattoo ink. One provision provides that a tattooist must use "only 

single-use pigment or ink containers for each client. Pigments and ink 

shall be dispensed from containers in a manner to prevent contamination 

to the unused portion. Individual containers of ink or pigment must be 

discarded after use." WAC 246-145-050( 15). The other regulation 

provides that "[i]nks or pigments used must not be banned or restricted by 

the FDA and must not be mixed with improper ingredients.'· WAC 246-

145-050( 18). The uncontroverted evidence is that Gillson complied with 

all ofthese requirements. 
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Washington Jaw does set forth regulations as to tattoo ink- and 

sterilization requirements are notably absent as to ink. If the Legislature 

had intended that the all tattoo ink be sterile or that a tattooist sterilize it 11
, 

it would have so required in the regulations. It has not done so. 

b) The FDA Does Not Require The Use of 
Sterile Ink for Tattooing. 

Washington Jaw follows federal Jaw on the issue - tattoo artists are 

not required to use "sterile" tattoo ink. Under the Federal Food, Drug, and 

Cosmetic Act, tattoo inks are considered to be cosmetics, and the pigments 

used in the inks are color additives requiring premarket approval. FDA, in 

turn, has unequivocally acknowledged that tattoo inks are not required to 

be sterile- "[n]o specific FDA regulatory requirement explicitly 

provides that tattoo inks inust be sterile." 12 

The FDA has also noted that the "practice oftatto?ing may be 

regulated by local jurisdictions. Such regulations generally have required 

blood-borne pathogens training and the use of hygienic practice during 

11 There is no evidence that a tattooist can sterilize ink in the same 
manner that instruments can be sterilized. For example. a tattooist cannot 
sterilize ink in an autoclave. CP 227. 

12 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tattoo-Associoted 
Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Skin il?f'ections-Multip/e States. 201/-
2012. (Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Rep011 (MMWR). 61(33): 653-656 
(Aug 24, 2012), available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6133a3.htm'? cid=mm6133a 
J_x. (Appendix A.) 
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tattooing." That is precisely what Washington has done in enacting 

WAC 246-145-050, entitled "[ s ]tandard universal precautions for 

preventing the spread of disease in body art, body piercing, and tattooing." 

WAC 246-145-050 lists twenty-four separate "universal precautions" that 

"must be used by persons licensed [in] ... tattooing: 

(1) Use sterile instruments and aseptic techniques at all 
times during a procedure. 

(2) Use only presterilized single-use disposable needles for 
body piercing and tattooing on one client and then dispose 
of the needles immediately in a sharps container. 

(3) We~r a clean outer garment and prevent hair from 
coming into contact with the client. All necklaces, 
bracelets, or other persoual items must be removed or 
covered by the outer garment or gloves to prevent the item 
coming in contact with the client. 

(4) Wash hands and wrists thoroughly in warm running 
water with soap for at least twenty seconds, scrub around 
and under fingernails, rinse completely and dry with a clean 
single-use towel or hand dryer. Handwashing must be done 

· immediately before and after performing a procedure. 

(5) Inspect hands for small cuts, sores and abrasions. If 
present, use a Seal-skin product or bandage. 

(6) Licensees with weeping dermatitis or draining sores 
must avoid contact with clients and equipment until the 
weeping dermatitis or draining sores are healed. 

(7) Wear gloves during procedures and while assembling 
instruments. Licensees must wash hands immediately 
before single-use disposable gloves are put on and after 
gloves are removed. 
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(8) Wear gloves to prepare the client's skin (washing and 
shaving) and then discard the gloves after completing the 
preparation. A new pair of gloves must be put on before 
continuing the procedure. 

(9) Remove gloves immediately, wash hands or use a hand 
sanitizer, and put on new gloves, when gloved hands break 
aseptic technique (e.g., touching eyes, nose or mouth, 
answering the phone, opening a door, or retrieving an item 
from the floor) during a procedure, or when gloves are torn 
or have small pinholes. 

(I 0) If a licensee sustains a needle stick, they shall resume 
the procedure with clean and sterile equipment after 
rewashing hands and putting on new gloves. 

(11) Change gloves after contact with each client. 

( 12) Clean and disinfect chairs, tables, work spaces, 
counters, and general use equipment in the procedure area 
between each client. Follow manufacturers' instructions for 
proper use of disinfecting (or detergent) products. 

(13) Use appropriate barrier films to cover all items gloved 
hands would normally come into contact with during a 
procedure. These items include, but are not limited to, 
machine heads, clip cords, spray bottles, seat adjustment 
controls, power control dials or buttons and work lamps. 

(14) Use single-use stencils. Petroleum jellies. soaps and 
other products used in the application of stencils must be 
dispensed and applied using aseptic technique and in a 
manner to prevent contamination of the original container 
and its contents. The applicator must be single-use. 

( 15) Use only single-use pigment or ink containers for each 
client. Pigments and ink shall be dispensed from containers 
in a manner to prevent contamination to the unused portion. 
Individual containers of ink or pigment must be discarded 
after use. 
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(16) Use single-use razors during procedures and dispose of 
them in a sharps container. 

(17) In the event of blood flow, use products that are 
single-use to control or check the blood flow or absorb the 
blood. Used products must be di.sposed of immediately in 
appropriate covered container. The use of styptic pens or 
alum solids to control blood flow is prohibited. 

( 18) Inks or pigments must not be banned or restricted by 
the FDA and must not be mixed with improper ingredients. 
Information indicating the source of all inks and pigments 
shall be available to the department upon request. 

(19) Use single-use marking instruments or instruments 
sanitized by design, such as alcohol based ink pens, on 
intact skin that has been treated with an antiseptic solution. 
Any marking instrument that comes in contact with mucous 
membranes or broken skin shall be single-use. 

(20) All jewelry, as defined in WAC 246-145-010, must be 
obtained in presterilized packaging from the manufactmer 
or be sterilized on-site prior to the procedme. 

(21) Cleanse the client's skin before and after a procedme 
by washing the skin with a FDA registered antiseptic 
solution applied with a clean, single-use product. A sanitary 
covering must be placed over the procedure site when 
appropriate. 

(22) Wearing new gloves open each package containing a 
sterile instrument in the presence ofthe client and handle 
each instrument in a manner to prevent contamination of 
the instrument. 

(23) Prevent needlestick injuries by not recapping needles 
or breaking needles by hand and by not otherwise 
manipulating contaminated needles by hand. 

(24) Disposal of sharps containers must comply with the 
local solid waste program through the licensee's local 
county health department. 



WAC 246-145-050. 

With the exception of Chester's misguided argument relating to 

"aseptic technique", Chester has not-and cannot-identify a single 

provision of theW AC that Gillson violated. These precautions are 

noteworthy in that they distinguish between different levels of hygienic 

duties, i.e., there are distinctions between "disinfect", "sanitize" and 

"sterilization." 13 The twenty-four precautions set forth in theW AC are 

also actions that are within a tattoo artist's ability to control, e.g., a 

tattooist can sterilize an instrument, can wear gloves and wash hands, 

clean and disinfect work spaces between clients, cleanse a client's skin, 

use single-use disposable needles, use single-use stencils, and use ink not 

banned by the FDA. These precautions make sense because they all speak 

to actions that are within the tattooist's ability to control. 

These WAC provisions are consistent with the CDC's 

recommendations (published in 2012, after the events at issue here) that 

tattoo artists should" 1) avoid using products not intended for use in 

tattooing; 2) avoid ink dilution before tattooing. and if dilution is needed, 

13 These terms are defined in WAC 308-22-0 I 0. Each provides for a 
different level of cleaning, e.g .. "disinfect" means the "destruction ofdisease
causing microorganisms on inanimate objects or surfaces, thereby rendering 
these objects safe for use or handling: "sanitize'· means "a procedure that reduces 
the level of microbial contamination so that the item or surface is considered 
safe''; and "steri I ization" means "a process that destroys all forms of microbial 
life, including highly resistant bacterial spores ... 
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use only sterile water; 3) avoid use of nonsterile water to rinse equipment 

(e.g., needles) during tattoo placement; and 4) follow aseptic techniques 

during tattooing (e.g., hand hygiene and use of disposable gloves)." 14
,

15 

Again, while the CDC mentions sterilized water in its 2012 guidance, it 

does not reference that a tattooist must use sterilized ink. Rather, the FDA 

noted in 2012 that the safety oftattoo ink lies with the ink manufacturer, 

"[b ]ecause tattoo inks are injected intradermally, CDC recommends that 

ink manufacturers be held to higher product safety standards, which 

should include production of sterile inks." 16 

In sum, either at the time Chester was tattooed in 2011 or now, 

there is no duty under Washington or federal law that required Gillson to 

14 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Tattoo-Associated 
Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Skin Infections-Multiple States, 2011-
2012. (Morbidityand Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), 61(33); 653-656 
(Aug 24, 20 12), available at 
http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/mm6133a3.htm? cid=mm6133a 
D· (Appendix A.)

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